

19

The Management of HIV-Hodgkin Lymphoma

Marcus Hentrich and Michele Spina

Contents

19.1	Introduction	335
19.2	Epidemiology	336
19.2.1	CD4 T-Cell Counts and Risk of HIV-HL	337
19.3	Pathology	337
19.4	Clinical Presentation and Prognostic Factors	339
19.4.1	Prognostic Factors	339
19.5	Management	339
19.5.1	Primary Chemotherapy	339
19.5.1.1	Stage-Adapted Approach	340
19.5.1.2	PET-Adapted Approach	341
19.5.1.3	Brentuximab Vedotin with Chemotherapy	342
19.5.1.4	Combination Antiretroviral Therapy (cART)	342
19.5.2	Relapsed and Resistant Disease	342
19.5.2.1	Brentuximab Vedotin	342
19.5.2.2	Checkpoint Inhibitors	342
Referenc	es	343

M. Hentrich (🖂)

Department of Hematology and Oncology, Red Cross Hospital Munich, University of Munich, Munich, Germany e-mail: marcus.hentrich@swmbrk.de

M. Spina

Division of Medical Oncology and Immune-related Tumors, National Cancer Institute, Aviano, PN, Italy e-mail: mspina@cro.it

A. Engert, A. Younes (eds.), *Hodgkin Lymphoma*, Hematologic Malignancies, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-32482-7_19

19.1 Introduction

Since 1996, the availability of combination antiretroviral therapy (cART) has led to improvements in immune status among HIV-infected persons, reducing AIDS-related morbidity and prolonging survival. However, despite the impact of cART on HIV-related mortality, malignancies remain an important cause of death [1–3]. While the incidence of the two major AIDS-associated malignancies—Kaposi's sarcoma (KS) and highgrade non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL)—has dramatically declined in the cART era, the risk of non-AIDS-defining malignancies (NADM) such

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

as Hodgkin lymphoma (HL), anal cancer, liver cancer, or lung cancer remains markedly elevated [4–6]. In patients with HIV-HL, curative-intent chemotherapy, modern cART, and supportive care have resulted in outcomes that are similar to that reported in HIV-negative HL [7–9].

19.2 Epidemiology

Compared with the general population, the incidence of HIV-HL is increased by approximately 10–15-fold with about 45–55 new cases per

100.00 person-years among HIV-infected patients [4-6, 10-18]. A summary of epidemiological studies reporting data on standardized incidence ratios is given in Table 19.1. The incidence of HIV-HL may have further increased in the decade after the introduction of cART. However, recent studies observed significant declining annual trends in hazard rate of HIV-HL in the range of -3.2% to -5% per year [19, 20].

Although in western countries patients with HIV-HL appeared to be approximately 4–5 years older than their HIV-negative counterparts, recent

Country	Period	N	HIV/AIDS	SIR	Reference	
Switzerland	1985-2003	7304	HIV	17.3	Clifford [10]	
				11.4		
				(HAART-nonuser)		
				36.2 (HAART-user)		
USA	1980-2002	31,7428	AIDS	9.4	Biggar [11]	
				7.0 (1980–1989)		
				8.1 (1990–1995)		
				13.2 (1996–2002)		
France/Italy	1985-2005	8074	HIV	10.8	Serraino [12]	
USA	1991-2002	57,350	HIV (initially AIDS-free)	5.6	Engels [13]	
				2.8 (1991–1995)		
				6.7 (1996–2002)		
				4.5 (before AIDS)		
				15 (after AIDS)		
USA	1992-2003	54,730	HIV	14.7 (RR)	Patel [14]	
				11.7 (1992–1995)		
				16.6 (1996–1999)		
				17.9 (2000–2003)		
UK	1983-2007	11,112	HIV	13.9	Powles [15]	
				4.5 (1983–1995)	_	
				11.1 (1996–2001)		
				32.4 (2002-2007)		
USA	1984-2007	6949	HIV/AIDS	7.3	Seaberg [16]	
Switzerland	1985-2006	9429	HIV/AIDS	9.2 (1985–1996)	Franceschi [4]	
				21 (1997-2001)		
				28.1 (2002–206)		
USA	1996-2008	20,775	HIV	18.7	Silverberg [17]	
Italy	1999-2009	5090	HIV	12.3	Calabresi [18]	
France	1997-2009	84,504	HIV	33.5 (1997–2000)	Hleyhel [5]	
				21.6 (2001–2004)		
				26.5 (2005–2009)		
USA	1996–2010	448,258	HIV/AIDS	7.7	Hernández- Ramirez [6]	

Table 19.1 Studies providing standardized incidence ratios (SIR) for HL in persons with HIV/AIDS

HAART highly active antiretroviral therapy, RR standardized rate ratio

data from the United States and South Africa no longer indicate differences in the median age of HIV-positive and HIV-negative individuals with HL [21–23]. In high-prevalence areas such as South Africa, 29% of HL cases were reported to be attributed to HIV [23], while in the United States 4% of HL cases occurred in the setting of HIV [24]. Highest incidence rates are observed among African Americans with 17% of HL cases being HIV-related [24].

19.2.1 CD4 T-Cell Counts and Risk of HIV-HL

Median CD4 cell counts at HL diagnosis is roughly between 150 and 260 cells/ μ L [7–9, 11, 25–28]. However, data on the relationship of CD4 cell counts and the risk of HIV-HL are somewhat inconsistent. The risk of HIV-HL is highest with CD4 counts between 50 and 100 cells/ μ L [29–31]. In contrast, the US HIV/ AIDS Cancer Match Study found that the incidence of HL decreased in persons with AIDS and falling CD4 cell counts [11]. This finding is in line with data from the German HIV-lymphoma cohort study showing that HL has become as common as non-Hodgkin lymphoma in patients with sustained viral suppression and limited immune deficiency defined as HIV RNA < 50copies/mL for more than 12 months and CD4 cell counts of >200/µL [32]. However, an analysis of 16 European cohorts suggested that the risk of HL declined more recently and CD4 counts have increased with an adjusted hazard ratio of 0.27 for patients with more than 350 cells as compared to less than 50 cells/ μ L [30].

The first 6–12 months after initiating cART is the period with the highest risk of HIV-HL diagnosis [27, 31, 33, 34]. There is also some evidence of a higher risk within 12 months after cART initiation [35]. The increased risk within 6 months after initiating cART may, at least in part, be explained by the occurrence of an immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome (IRIS) [35]. In one cohort, unmasking lymphoma IRIS, defined as lymphoma within 6 months after ART accompanied by a $\geq 0.5 \log_{10}$ copies/mL HIV RNA reduction, was observed in 15% of HL cases [36].

Case-control studies showed a marked decline of CD4 cells by 100–168 cells/ μ L over 12 months prior to HL diagnosis [37, 38].

There is conflicting data on the relationship of HIV RNA and the risk of HIV-HL. While in the European Cohere database, HIV-1 viral replication was not associated with the risk of HIV-HL [30], a more recent study among HIV-infected veterans found that decreased HIV viral load was associated with lower risk of HL [39].

19.3 Pathology

There are differences in the pathology between HIV-HL and HL in the general population. First, the pathology is characterized by a high incidence of unfavorable histological subtypes such as mixed cellularity and lymphocyte depleted [7, 40]. Although a higher proportion of classical HL not otherwise specified (NOS) has been diagnosed in recent years [23, 24, 27], the MC predominance has not changed over the last decades [7–9, 11].

Second, HIV-HL exhibits special features related to the cellular background with the presence of fibrohistiocytoid stromal cell proliferation and the high number of neoplastic cells. These features may pose relevant difficulties in diagnosing and classifying the disease (Fig. 19.1). This finding contrasts with the rather low population of neoplastic cells usually found in HIVunrelated HL [41]. Compared to HL in the HIV-negative setting, nodal CD4+ T-cells are decreased lacking CD4+ rosetting around HRS [42, 43].

Third, a high frequency of EBV association has been shown in HL (80–100%) tissues from HIV-HL [7, 44]. This contrasts to HIV-negative HL in which the EBV genome is observed in 20–50% only according to histological subtype and age at diagnosis. The EBV genome in HIV-HL has been reported to be episomal and clonal, even when detected in multiple independent lesions (Fig. 19.2). The elevated frequency of EBV association with HIV-HL indicates that

Fig. 19.1 Hodgkin and Reed-Sternberg (H/RS) cells with prominent central nucleoli in a case of HIV-HL (H&E, original magnification ×400)



Fig. 19.2 In situ hybridization for EBV-encoded RNA (EBER) in H/RS cells of HIV-HL. The EBER signal is located to the nucleus. (original magnification ×400)

EBV probably represents a relevant factor involved in the pathogenesis of HIV-HL [45]. An etiologic role of EBV in the pathogenesis of HIV-HL is further supported by data showing that latent membrane protein 1 (LMP1) is expressed in the vast majority of HIV-HL cases [44, 45]. LMP1 and LMP2 are important for NF-KB and B-cell receptor signaling as well as for B-cell proliferation [44]. In addition, EBV infection induces an increase in T-regulatory cells and associated immunosuppressive cyto-kines (IL10) that may inhibit an immune response against EBV+ cells [46].

Finally, RS cells of classical HL of HIVnegative patients represent transformed B-cells originating from pre-apoptotic germinal center (GC) B-cells [46]. Most HIV-related HL cases express LMP1 and display the BCL6–/CD138+/ MUM1 IRF4+ (for multiple myeloma-1 interferon regulatory factor-4) phenotype, thus reflecting post-GC B-cells [47, 48]. The possible contribution of LMP1 to the loss of BCL6 expression seems plausible given that LMP1 can downregulate many B-cell-specific genes [49]. Loss of B-cell identity occurs during the normal differentiation of a GC B-cell into plasma cell or memory B-cell.

19.4 Clinical Presentation and Prognostic Factors

Approximately 65–80% of patients present with advanced stages or B-symptoms. Compared to HL in the general population, the bone marrow is more frequently involved and can be the only involved site of disease [23].

There is only limited evidence on the role of PET scans in the diagnosis of HIV-lymphoma. As ¹⁸FDG can mark benign reactive nodes as seen in HIV infection, findings should be interpreted with caution. False-positive results may occur in ART-naive viremic patients and those with high HIV viral loads or low CD4 counts [50–55].

The routine diagnostic workup should include not only CD4 T-cell counts and HIV RNA but also hepatitis B and hepatitis C virus serology.

19.4.1 Prognostic Factors

Before the introduction of cART, results of chemotherapy and outcomes of patients with HIV-HL were not satisfactory [56–58]. This was mainly due to the poor tolerance of standard chemotherapy with high rates of opportunistic infections and toxic deaths. However, several cohort studies have shown that complete remission (CR) and overall survival (OS) rates were significantly higher in patients on cART as compared to those treated in the precART era [59–63]. Factors independently associated with improved OS included response to cART, higher CD4 T-cell counts at HL diagnosis, and achievement of CR [61–63]. A large retrospective analysis of 596 HIV-HL patients from six European countries that included patients treated in the pre- and post-cART era found two parameters independently associated with OS: CD4 counts <200 cells/ μ L (HR 1.63) and IPS > 2 (HR 2.33) [64]. A multi-institutional retrospective study of 229 advanced HIV-HL patients who had received ABVD plus cART also showed CD4 cell counts <200/ μ L to be an independent adverse prognostic factor for PFS and OS [28].

Given the somewhat inconsistent data on the predictive power of the International Prognostic Score (IPS) in HIV-HL [7, 9, 25, 28, 65], treatment decisions should not be based on IPS.

An analysis from the National Cancer Database showed that among patients with HIV-HL who received chemotherapy, HIV status was not significantly associated with higher mortality in classical histological subtypes, while prognosis remained poor for those patients with undetermined histology, suggesting a more aggressive biology or other high-risk characteristics in this subgroup [66].

19.5 Management

19.5.1 Primary Chemotherapy

ABVD is the most common treatment for HIV-HL [28, 67–72]. In retrospective studies, ABVD (mainly 5–6 cycles) with concomitant cART resulted in CR rates of 74–89% and 5-year OS rates of 76–81% (Table 19.2). In comparative studies, no significant differences in the 5-year event-free survival (EFS) and OS were observed between HIV-positive and HIV-negative patients [8, 9, 72].

The use of the Stanford V regimen and concomitant cART resulted in CR rates of 81% and a 3-year OS rate of 51% in a prospective trial performed in the early cART era [25]. Although this represented a clear advantage compared to the pre-cART era, it was still below what is being reported in the general population.

			GD (CR				
Ν	period	Stage III/ IV (%)	CD4 counts ^a	No cycles	rate (%)	OS	Toxic deaths	Comment	Reference
62	1996–2005	100	129/µl	6: 68% 8: 15% <6: 17%	87	76% (5-year) 65% (14-year)	5% (<i>n</i> = 3)	Concurrent cART in al pts	Xicoy [67] Xicoy [68]
93	1997–2010	80	185/µl	6	74	81% (5-year)	1% (<i>n</i> = 1)	Concurrent cART in 92/93 pts; no impact of HIV-status on OS	Montoto [8]
229	NR-2010	100	180/µl	5 (median, range 3-8)	83	78% (5-year)	NR	Concurrent cART in all pts	Castillo [28]
68	2008–2014	76	387/µl	3–4 (stage I/II) ^b	NR	94% (2-year)	NR	Concurrent cART in 67/68 pts; no impact of HIV-status on OS	Besson [9]
21	1995–2013	NR	182/µl	6–8	89	73% (10-year)	$10\% (n = 2)^{c}$	Concurrent cART in all pts; no impact of HIV-status on OS	Sorigué [72]

Table 19.2 Results from retrospective studies on ABVD in HIV-HL in the cART-era

CR complete remission, OS overall survival, NR not reported

^aMedian, at HL diagnosis

^bABVD given to 65/68 pts, no. of cycles for stage III/IV not reported ^cDeath in induction

19.5.1.1 Stage-Adapted Approach

A stage-adapted treatment approach was investigated in another prospective trial [7]. Patients with early favorable HL received 2-4 cycles of ABVD followed by involved-field radiation, patients with early unfavorable disease were treated with 4 cycles of BEACOPP baseline or 4 cycles of ABVD, and patients with advanced HIV-HL received 6-8 cycles of BEACOPP baseline. In patients with advanced HIV infection, BEACOPP was replaced by ABVD; 94% received concurrent cART while on protocol therapy. The CR rate for patients with early favorable, early unfavorable, and advanced-stage HL was 96%, 100%, and 86%, respectively (Table 19.3). The 2-year OS of the entire study population was 90.7% with no significant difference between early favorable (95.7%), early unfavorable (100%), and advanced HL (86.8%). Treatment-related mortality in patients with

advanced disease was 7% with three of four toxic deaths having occurred after the seventh cycle of BEACOPP. Thus, if the BEACOPP regimen is chosen, the number of cycles should be limited to six. In HIV-negative patients with HL, 6 cycles of the more intensified BEACOPP-escalated regimen proved superior to 8 cycles [73]. An overview of prospective clinical studies in HIV-HL in the cART era is given in Table 19.3 [7, 25, 74–76, 78].

Taken together, a stage-adapted treatment approach in HIV-HL is feasible and effective. Two cycles of ABVD followed by involved-field (IF) radiation therapy (RT) can be regarded as standard treatment for early favorable HL. As the use of 20-Gy and 30-Gy doses of RT proved equally effective in HIV-negative early-stage HL, the lower dose of 20-Gy RT should also be preferred in early-stage HIV-HL [77]. While the use of 4 cycles of ABVD followed by 30-Gy IF-RT

		Recruitment	Stage III/IV	No cycles	CR rate		Toxic		
Regimen	N	period	(%)	(median)	(%)	OS	deaths	Comment	Reference
Stanford V	59	1997-2001	71	Planned	81	51%	2%	2 deaths of OI	Spina [25,
				treatment in		(3-year)	(1/59)	5-yr OS 54%	78]
				69%ª					
BEACOPP	12	1993-2002	92	6	100	75%	17%	cART in 4/12	Hartmann
						(3-year)	(2/12)	pts	[74]
VEBEP	73	2001-2008	70	NR	67	66%	6%	Results not yet	Spina [75]
						(3-year)	(4/73)	fully published	
BEACOPP	71	2004-2010	100	7	86	87%	6%	Fatal	Hentrich [7]
or ABVD						(2-year)	(4/71)	neutropenic	
								sepsis in 3 of 4	
								pts beyond	
								cycle 7	
ABVD or	14	2004–2010	Early	4	100	100%	0	1 relapse	
BEACOPP			unfavorable			(2-year)			
ABVD	23	2004–2010	Early	2	96	96%	4%	1 fatal	
			favorable			(2-year)	(1/23)	neutropenic	
								sepsis after	
								cycle I	
ABVD	12	2010-2012	100	6 (PET2-)	75	100%	0	2-year PFS	Danilov
				2 (PET2+)		(2-year)		83% with	[/6]
								response-	
				BEACOPP				adapted	
	1				1			Tueaunent	

Table 19.3 Results from prospective studies on HIV-HL in the cART-era

VEBEP vinblastine, epirubicine, bleomycin, etoposide, prednisone; NR not reported

^a12-week chemotherapy without dose reduction or delay in administration

may be considered standard of care for patients with early-stage unfavorable HL, six cycles of ABVD or BEACOPP baseline may be applied to patients with advanced-stage HIV-HL [69, 79].

19.5.1.2 PET-Adapted Approach

Although the predictive value of positive interim PET scans may be hampered by false-positive results in patients with HIV, data from a retrospective cohort study indicate a high negative predictive value of a ¹⁸FDG-PET scan performed after 2–3 cycles of ABVD (PET2 or PET3) [80].

A response-adapted therapy based on early interim ¹⁸FDG-PET was investigated in a US Intergroup Trial that included both HIV-positive and HIV-negative patients with HL [76]. Patients with stage III/IV classical HL who had CD4 cell counts \geq 150/µL at registration or \geq 250/µL at any time within 8 months prior to HL diagnosis received 2 cycles of ABVD followed by interim FDG-PET. Patients with a negative PET2 (Deauville \leq 3) subsequently received four additional cycles of ABVD, while PET2-positive patients received 6 cycles of BEACOPP baseline. Ten of twelve (83%) HIV-HL patients who completed 2 cycles of ABVD achieved a negative PET2 status and two remained PET-positive with Deauville scores of four and five. With a median follow-up of 39 months, three patients developed progressive disease (all PET2negative) resulting in an estimated PFS of 83% at 2 years.

In a study from South Africa that included 57 patients with HIV-HL, only 59.6% had a negative ¹⁸FDG-PET (Deauville score 1–3) performed 8 weeks following completion of chemotherapy with ABVD. However, residual FDG avidity at sites of disease involvement identified during primary staging was not histologically confirmed and data on PFS and OS were not provided in this study [81]. The role of interim PET in HIV-HL should be further investigated in well-designed clinical trials.

19.5.1.3 Brentuximab Vedotin with Chemotherapy

Brentuximab vedotin (BV), an antibody-drug conjugate of the antimitotic agent monomethyl auristatin E targeting CD30, in combination with doxorubicin, vinblastine, and dacarbazine (AVD-BV) had superior efficacy to ABVD in the HIV-negative treatment of patients with advanced-stage HL [82]. In the setting of HIV, the combination of BV plus AVD is currently being investigated in AMC-085, a study by the AIDS Malignancy Consortium (NCT 01771107). Preliminary data on six patients showed grade 3 non-hematological toxicity in three patients and negative PET/CT scans in six of six patients following 6 cycles of therapy [83]. Thus, AVD-BV also seems feasible and effective in HIV-HL. The phase II portion of AMC-085 (51 subjects) is actively accruing in both the United States and France.

19.5.1.4 Combination Antiretroviral Therapy (cART)

Chemotherapy and concomitant cART have been shown to be feasible and effective during chemotherapy for HIV-HL. Furthermore, there is evidence that increased viremia during the 6 months after lymphoma diagnosis is associated with an increased risk of death between 6 months and 5 years after diagnosis [84]. Thus, cART should either be continued or initiated in parallel to chemotherapy according to current guidelines for the use of ART [69, 79, 85]. However, the potential of interactions between cytotoxics and antiretrovirals must be considered. Especially strong enzyme inhibitors such as ritonavir-boosted protease inhibitors or cobicistat should be avoided because of an increased risk of toxicity [86–90].

19.5.2 Relapsed and Resistant Disease

Patients with relapsed or refractory HIV-HL should be considered early for high-dose chemotherapy (HDCT) and autologous stem cell transplantation (ASCT) [69, 79]. Peripheral blood stem cells can be effectively mobilized [91], and autologous stem cell transplantation (ASCT) has been shown to be a useful treatment in HIVinfected lymphoma patients with chemotherapysensitive relapse [92–95]. In a prospective phase II study on 40 patients with chemotherapysensitive relapsed/persistent HIV-lymphoma (of which 15 had HL), HDCT plus ASCT resulted in 1-year and 2-year OS probabilities of 87% and 82%, respectively [95]. One-year transplantrelated mortality (TRM) was 5.2%. Retrospective studies did not show significant differences in survival between HIV-positive and HIV-negative lymphoma patients undergoing ASCT [93, 94]. Notably, ASCT in HIV-infected individuals does not worsen the initial immune impairment and does not enhance viral replication [96]. However, in a comparative analysis by the EBMT, TRM was 8% in HIV-positive compared to 2% in HIVnegative patients [93]. A more recent analysis of patients with HIV-lymphoma undergoing ASCT also found an increased TRM of 9% [97].

19.5.2.1 Brentuximab Vedotin

Case studies indicate that brentuximab vedotin alone is a valid treatment option in relapsed/ refractory HIV-HL [98, 99]. In a patient with relapsed HIV-HL, BV given as bridging therapy prior to planned ASCT resulted not only in disease stabilization but also in a transient loss of detectable HIV-1 RNA [99]. Another case report presented a patient with relapsed HIV-HL who experienced a second complete remission after treatment with BV [98].

19.5.2.2 Checkpoint Inhibitors

Immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) have dramatically improved the survival of patients with certain cancers and demonstrated high efficacy in HIV-negative patients with relapsed/refractory HL [100, 101]. The anti-programmed cell death protein 1 (PD1) agent nivolumab also proved safe and efficacious in a number of case reports on relapsed/refractory HIV-HL. Of five cases published in the literature, three achieved a complete remission and two a partial remission during treatment with nivolumab [102–105]. A review of 73 HIV-infected cancer patients treated with ICIs showed a 9% rate of grade 3 or higher immune-related events [106]. Patients with HIV did not experience increased side effects, and HIV remained undetectable in 93% of patients (26 of 28) known to have undetectable viral load before treatment. Most patients had received either nivolumab (39.7%) or pembrolizumab (35.6%) [106].

Ongoing prospective clinical trials will further define the role of ICI therapy in patients with HIV-HL.

References

- Ingle SM, May MT, Gill MJ et al (2014) Impact of risk factors for specific causes of death in the first and subsequent years of antiretroviral therapy among HIV-infected patients. Clin Infect Dis 59:287–297
- Morlat P, Roussillon C, Henard S et al (2014) Causes of death among HIV-infected patients in France in 2010 (national survey): trends since 2000. AIDS 28:1181–1191
- Zuccheto A, Virdone S, Taborelli M et al (2016) Non-AIDS-defining Cancer mortality: emerging patterns in the late HAART era. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 73:190–196
- Franceschi S, Lise M, Clifford GM et al (2010) Changing patterns of cancer incidence in the earlyand late-HAART periods: the Swiss HIV cohort study. Br J Cancer 103:416–422
- Hyelyel M, Bouvier AM, Belot A et al (2014) Risk of non-AIDS-defining cancers among HIV-1-infected individuals in France between 1997 and 2009: results from a French cohort. AIDS 28:2109–2118
- Hernández-Ramírez RU, Shiels MS, Dubrow R, Engels EA (2017) Cancer risk in HIV-infected people in the USA from 1996 to 2012: a population-based, registry-linkage study. Lancet HIV 11:e495–e504
- Hentrich M, Berger M, Wyen C et al (2012) Stageadapted treatment of HIV-associated Hodgkin lymphoma: results of a prospective multicenter study. J Clin Oncol 30:4117–4123
- Montoto S, Shaw K, Okosun J et al (2012) HIV status does not influence outcome in patients with classical Hodgkin lymphoma treated with chemotherapy using doxorubicin, bleomycin, vinblastine, and dacarbazine in the highly active antiretroviral therapy era. J Clin Oncol 30:4111–4116
- Besson C, Lancar R, Prevot S et al (2015) High risk features contrast with favorable outcomes in HIVassociated Hodgkin lymphoma in the modern cART era, ANRS CO16 LYMPHOVIR cohort. Clin Infect Dis 61:1469–1475
- Clifford GM, Polesel J, Rickenbach M et al (2005) Cancer risk in the Swiss HIV cohort study: associations with immunodeficiency, smoking, and highly

active antiretroviral therapy. J Natl Cancer Inst 97:425-432

- Biggar RJ, Jaffe ES, Goedert JJ et al (2006) Hodgkin lymphoma and immunodeficiency in persons with HIV/AIDS. Blood 108:3786–3791
- Serraino D, Piselli P, Busnach G et al (2007) Risk of cancer following immunosuppression in organ transplant recipients and in HIV-positive individuals in southern Europe. Eur J Cancer 43:2117–2123
- Engels EA, Biggar RJ, Hall HI et al (2008) Cancer risk in people infected with human immunodeficiency virus in the United States. Int J Cancer 123:187–194
- 14. Patel P, Hanson DL, Sullivan PS et al (2008) Incidence of types of cancer among HIV-infected persons compared with the general population in the United States, 1992–2003. Ann Intern Med 148:728–736
- Powles T, Robinson D, Stebbing J et al (2009) Highly active antiretroviral therapy and the incidence of non-AIDS-defining cancers in people with HIV infection. J Clin Oncol 27:884–890
- Seaberg EC, Wiley D, Martínez-Maza O et al (2010) Cancer incidence in the multicenter AIDS cohort study before and during the HAART era: 1984– 2007. Cancer 116:5507–5516
- Silverberg MJ, Chao C, Leyden WA et al (2011) HIV infection, immunodeficiency, viral replication, and the risk of cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev 20:2551–2559
- 18. Calabresi A, Ferraresi A, Festa A et al (2013) Incidence of AIDS-defining cancers and virusrelated and non-virus-related non-AIDS-defining cancers among HIV-infected patients compared with the general population in a large health district of northern Italy, 1999–2009. HIV Med 14:481–490
- Robbins HA, Shiels MS, Pfeiffer RM, Engels EA (2014) Epidemiologic contributions to recent cancer trends among HIV-infected people in the United States. AIDS 28:881–890
- Silverberg MJ, Lau B, Achenbach CJ et al (2015) Cumulative incidence of cancer among persons with HIV in North America: a cohort study. Ann Intern Med 163:507–518
- Shiels MS, Althoff KN, Pfeiffer RM et al (2017) HIV infection, immunosuppression, and age at diagnosis of non-AIDS-defining cancers. Clin Infect Dis 64:468–475
- 22. Naidoo N, Abayomi A, Locketz C et al (2018) Incidence of Hodgkin lymphoma in HIV-positive and HIV-negative patients at a tertiary hospital in South Africa (2005–2016) and comparison with other African countries. S Afr Med J 108:653–567
- Swart L, Novitzky N, Mohamed Z, Opie J (2019) Hodgkin lymphoma at Groote Schuur hospital, South Africa: the effect of HIV and bone marrow infiltration. Ann Hematol 98:381–389
- 24. Shiels MS, Koritzinsky EH, Clarke CA et al (2014) Prevalence of HIV infection among U.S. Hodgkin

lymphoma cases. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev 23:274–281

- 25. Spina M, Gabarre J, Rossi G et al (2002) Stanford V regimen and concomitant HAART in 59 patients with Hodgkin disease and HIV infection. Blood 100:1984–1988
- 26. Gopal S, Patel MR, Yanik EL et al (2013) Temporal trends in presentation and survival for HIVassociated lymphoma in the antiretroviral therapy era. J Natl Cancer Inst 105:1221–1229
- 27. Gotti D, Danesi M, Calabresi A et al (2013) Clinical characteristics, incidence, and risk factors of HIVrelated Hodgkin lymphoma in the era of combination antiretroviral therapy. AIDS Patient Care STDs 27:259–265
- Castillo JJ, Bower M, Brühlmann J et al (2015) Prognostic factors for advanced-stage human immunodeficiency virus-associated classical Hodgkin lymphoma treated with doxorubicin, bleomycin, vinblastine, and dacarbazine plus combined antiretroviral therapy. Cancer 121:423–431
- 29. Guiguet M, Boue F, Cadranel J et al (2009) Effect of immunodeficiency, HIV viral load, and antiretroviral therapy on the risk of individual malignancies (FHDH-ANRS CO4): a prospective cohort study. Lancet Oncol 10:1152–1159
- Bohlius J, Schmidlin K, Boué F et al (2011) Therapy: incidence and evolution of CD4 + T-cell lymphocytes HIV-1-related Hodgkin lymphoma in the era of combination antiretroviral. Blood 117:6100–6108
- Lanoy E, Rosenberg PS, Fily F et al (2001) HIVassociated Hodgkin lymphoma during the first months on combination antiretroviral therapy. Blood 118:44–49
- 32. Hoffmann C, Hentrich M, Gillor D et al (2015) Hodgkin lymphoma is as common as non-Hodgkin lymphoma in HIV-positive patients with sustained viral suppression and limited immune deficiency: a prospective cohort study. HIV Med 16:261–264
- 33. Yanik EL, Napravnik S, Cole SR et al (2013) Incidence and timing of cancer in HIV-infected individuals following initiation of combination antiretroviral therapy. Clin Infect Dis 57:756–764
- 34. Kowalkowski MA, Mims MA, Day RS et al (2014) Longer duration of combination antiretroviral therapy reduces the risk of Hodgkin lymphoma: a cohort study of HIV-infected male veterans. Cancer Epidemiol 38:386–392
- 35. Kowalkowski MA, Mims MP, Amiran ES et al (2013) Effect of immune reconstitution on the incidence of HIV-related Hodgkin lymphoma. PLoS One 8:e77409
- 36. Gopal S, Patel MR, Achenbach CJ et al (2014) Lymphoma immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome in the center for AIDS research network of integrated clinical systems cohort. Clin Infect Dis 59:279–286
- 37. Gupta RK, Marks M, Edwards SG et al (2014) A declining CD4 count and diagnosis of HIVassociated Hodgkin lymphoma: do prior clinical

symptoms and laboratory abnormalities aid diagnosis? PLoS One 9:e87442

- Hoffmann C, Schommers P, Wolf E et al (2016) CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T-cell kinetics in aviremic HIV-infected patients developing Hodgkin or non-Hodgkin lymphoma. AIDS 30:753–760
- Kowalkowski MA, Day RS, Du XL et al (2014) Cumulative HIV viremia and non-AIDS-defining malignancies among a sample of HIV-infected male veterans. J AIDS 67:204–211
- 40. Tirelli U, Errante D, Dolcetti R et al (1995) Hodgkin's disease and human immunodeficiency virus infection: clinicopathologic and virologic features of 114 patients from the Italian cooperative group on AIDS and tumors. J Clin Oncol 13:1758–1767
- 41. Said JW (2007) Immunodeficiency-related Hodgkin lymphoma and its mimics. Adv Anat Pathol 14:189–194
- 42. Hartmann S, Jakobus C, Rengstl B et al (2013) Spindle-shaped CD163+ rosetting macrophages replace CD4+ T-cells in HIV-related classical Hodgkin lymphoma. Mod Pathol 26:648–657
- 43. Koulis A, Trivedi P, Ibrahim H et al (2014) The role of the microenvironment in human immunodeficiency virus-associated classical Hodgkin lymphoma. Histopathology 65:749–756
- Carbone A, Gloghini A, Dotti G (2008) EBVassociated lymphoproliferative disorders: classification and treatment. Oncologist 13:577–585
- Dolcetti R, Boiocchi M, Gloghini A, Carbone A (2001) Pathogenetic and histogenetic features of HIV-associated Hodgkin's disease. Eur J Cancer 37:1276–1287
- 46. Morales O, Mrizak D, Francois V et al (2014) Epstein-Barr virus infection induces an increase of T regulatory type 1 cells in Hodgkin lymphoma patients. Br J Haematol 66:875–890
- Klein U, Dalla-Favera R (2008) Germinal centres: role in B-cell physiology and malignancy. Nat Rev Immunol 8:22–33
- Carbone A, Gloghini A, Larocca LM et al (1999) Human immunodeficiency virus associated Hodgkin's disease derives from post-germinal center B cells. Blood 93:2319–2326
- 49. Vockerodt M, Morgan S, Kuo M et al (2008) The Epstein-Barr virus oncoprotein, latent membrane protein-1, reprograms germinal Centre B cells towards a Hodgkin's reed-Sternberg-like phenotype. J Pathol 216:83–92
- 50. Goshen E, Davidson T, Avigdor A et al (2008) PET/ CT in the evaluation of lymphoma in patients with HIV-1 with suppressed viral loads. Clin Nucl Med 33:610–614
- 51. Lucignani G, Orunesu E, Cesari M et al (2009) FDG-PET imaging in HIV-infected subjects: relation with therapy and immunovirological variables. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 36:640–647
- Valour F, Sénéchal A, Chidiac C, Ferry T (2012) Chronic HIV-1 infection mimicking splenic malignant lymphoma on F-18 FDG-PET/CT. BMJ Case

Rep 2012:bcr1120115195. https://doi.org/10.1136/ bcr.11.2011.5195

- 53. Liu L (2012) Concurrent FDG avid nasopharyngeal lesion and generalized lymphadenopathy on PET-CT imaging is indicative of lymphoma in patients with HIV infection. AIDS Res Treat 2012:764291
- 54. Mhlanga JC, Durand D, Tsai HL et al (2014) Differentiation of HIV-associated lymphoma from HIV-associated reactive adenopathy using quantitative FDG PET and symmetry. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 41:596–604
- 55. Sathekge M (2014) Differentiation of HIVassociated lymphoma from HIV-reactive adenopathy using quantitative FDG-PET and symmetry. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 41:593–595
- 56. Errante D, Tirelli U, Gastaldi R et al (1994) Combined antineoplastic and antiretroviral therapy for patients with Hodgkin's disease and human immunodeficiency virus infection. A prospective study of 17 patients. The Italian cooperative group on AIDS and tumors (GICAT). Cancer 73:437–444
- 57. Errante D, Gabarre J, Ridolfo AL et al (1999) Hodgkin's disease in 35 patients with HIV infection: an experience with epirubicin, bleomycin, vinblastine and prednisone chemotherapy in combination with antiretroviral therapy and primary use of G-CSF. Ann Oncol 10:189–195
- 58. Levine AM, Li P, Cheung T et al (2000) Chemotherapy consisting of doxorubicin, bleomycin, vinblastine, and dacarbazine with granulocyte colony-stimulating factor in HIV-infected patients with newly diagnosed Hodgkin's disease: a prospective, multi-institutional AIDS clinical trials group study (ACTG 149). J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 24:444–450
- Ribera J-M, Navarro J-T, Oriol A et al (2002) Prognostic impact of highly active antiretroviral therapy in HIV-related Hodgkin's disease. AIDS 16:1973–1976
- 60. Gérard L, Galicier L, Boulanger E et al (2003) Improved survival in HIV-related Hodgkin's lymphoma since the introduction of highly active antiretroviral therapy. AIDS 17:81–87
- 61. Hoffmann C, Chow KU, Wolf E et al (2004) Strong impact of highly active antiretroviral therapy on survival in patients with human immunodeficiency virus-associated Hodgkin's disease. Br J Haematol 124:455–462
- 62. Hentrich M, Maretta L, Chow KU et al (2006) Highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) improves survival in HIV-associated Hodgkin's disease: results of a multicenter study. Ann Oncol 17:914–919
- 63. Berenguer J, Miralles P, Ribera JM et al (2008) Characteristics and outcome of AIDS related Hodgkin lymphoma before and after the introduction of highly active antiretroviral therapy. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 47:422–428
- 64. Spina M, Ribera J-M, Gabarre J et al (2010) Hodgkin's disease and HIV infection (HD-HIV): prognostic factors in 596 patients (pts) within the

European Group for the Study of HIV and Tumours (GECAT). Blood 116:3883(abstr)

- 65. Xicoy B, Ribera J-M, Miralles P et al (2009) Limited prognostic value of the international prognostic score in advanced stage human immunodeficiency virus infection-related Hodgkin lymphoma treated with the doxorubicin, bleomycin, vinblastine, and dacarbazine regimen. Leuk Lymphoma 50:1718–1720
- 66. Olszewski AJ, Castillo JJ (2016) Outcomes of HIVassociated Hodgkin lymphoma in the era of highly active antiretroviral therapy. AIDS 30:787–796
- 67. Xicoy B, Ribera J-M, Miralles P et al (2007) Results of treatment with doxorubicin, bleomycin, vinblastine and dacarbazine and highly active antiretroviral therapy in advanced stage, human immunodeficiency virus-related Hodgkin's lymphoma. Haematologica 92:191–198
- 68. Xicoy B, Miralles P, Morgades M et al (2013) Longterm follow up of patients with human immunodeficiency virus infection and advanced stage Hodgkin's lymphoma treated with doxorubicin, bleomycin, vinblastine and dacarbazine. Haematologica 98:e85–e86
- Bower M, Palfreeman A, Alfa-Wali M et al (2014) British HIV Association guidelines for HIVassociated malignancies 2014. HIV Med 15(Suppl 2):1–92
- Kaplan LD (2012) Management of HIV-associated Hodgkin lymphoma: how far we have come. J Clin Oncol 30:4056–4058
- Uldrick TS, Little RF (2015) How I treat classical Hodgkin lymphoma in patients infected with human immunodeficiency virus. Blood 125:1226–1235
- Sorigué M, Garcia O, Tapia G et al (2017) HIVinfection has no prognostic impact on advanced stage Hodgkin lymphoma. AIDS 31:1445–1449
- 73. Engert A, Haverkamp H, Kobe C et al (2012) Reduced-intensity chemotherapy and PET-guided radiotherapy in patients with advanced stage Hodgkin's lymphoma (HD15 trial): a randomised, open-label, phase 3 non-inferiority trial. Lancet 379:1791–1799
- 74. Hartmann P, Rehwald U, Salzberger B et al (2003) BEACOPP therapeutic regimen for patients with Hodgkin's disease and HIV infection. Ann Oncol 14:1562–1569
- 75. Spina M, Antinori A, Bibas M et al (2011) VEBEP regimen in patients (pts) with HD and HIV infection (HIV-HD): final results of a phase II study of the italian cooperative group on AIDS and tumors (GICAT). Haematologica 96(s2):320(abstr. 0768)
- 76. Danilov AV, Li H, Press OW et al (2017) Feasibility of interim positron emission tomography (PET)-adapted therapy in HIV-positive patients with advanced Hodgkin lymphoma (HL): a sub-analysis of SWOG S0816 phase 2 trial. Leuk Lymphoma 58:461–465
- 77. Engert A, Plütschow A, Eich HT et al (2010) Reduced treatment intensity in patients with early-stage Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med 363:640–652

- 78. Spina M, Gabarre J, Mancuso S et al (2011) Long term results of Stanford V regimen and highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) in 59 patients (pts) with HD and HIV-infection (HD-HIV). Haematologica 96(s2):322(abstr. 0773)
- 79. Hentrich M, Hoffmann C, Mosthaf F et al (2014) Therapy of HIV-associated lymphomarecommendations of the oncology working group of the German study Group of Physicians in private practice treating HIV-infected patients (DAGNÄ), in cooperation with the German AIDS society (DAIG). Ann Hematol 93:913–921
- Okosun J, Warbey V, Shaw K et al (2012) Interim fluoro-2-deoxy-D-glucose-PET predicts response and progression-free survival in patients with Hodgkin lymphoma and HIV infection. AIDS 26:861–865
- 81. Lawal IO, Nyakale NE, Harry LM et al (2017) The role of F-18 FDG PET/CT in evaluating the impact of HIV infection on tumor burden and therapy outcome in patients with Hodgkin lymphoma. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 44:2025–2033
- Connors JM, Jurczak W, Straus DJ et al (2018) Brentuximab vedotin with chemotherapy for stage III or IV Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med 378:331–344
- Rubinstein PG, Moore PC, Rudek MA et al (2018) Brentuximab vedotin with AVD shows safety, in the absence of strong CYP3A4 inhibitors, in newly diagnosed HIV-associated Hodgkin lymphoma. AIDS 32:605–611
- Gopal S, Patel MR, Yanik EL et al (2013) Association of early HIV viremia with mortality after HIVassociated lymphoma. AIDS 27:2365–2373
- European AIDS Clinical Society guidelines Version 9.1 October 2018. Part II: ART of HIV-positive persons. http://www.eacsociety.org
- 86. Cingolani A, Torti L, Pinnetti C et al (2010) Detrimental clinical interaction between ritonavirboosted protease inhibitors and vinblastine in HIVinfected patients with Hodgkin's lymphoma. AIDS 24:2408–2412
- Ezzat HM, Cheung MC, Hicks LK et al (2012) Incidence, predictors and significance of severe toxicity in patients with human immunodeficiency virus-associated Hodgkin lymphoma. Leuk Lymphoma 53:2390–2396
- Mounier N, Rudek MA (2016) Chemotherapy and interactions with combination antiretroviral therapy. In: Hentrich M, Barta KS (eds) HIV-associated hematological malignancies. Springer International Publishing, Berlin, pp 207–214
- Welz T, Wyen C, Hensel M (2017) Drug interactions in the treatment of malignancy in HIV-infected patients. Oncol Res Treat 40:120–127
- Liverpool Drug Interactions Group, University of Liverpool, UK. http://www.hiv-druginteractions.org. Accessed 3 Mar 2019

- Re A, Cattaneo C, Skert C et al (2013) Stem cell mobilization in HIV seropositive patients with lymphoma. Haematologica 98:1762–1768
- Balsalobre P, Diez-Martin JL, Re A et al (2009) Autologous stem cell transplantation in patients with HIV-related lymphoma. J Clin Oncol 27:2192–2198
- 93. Diez-Martin JL, Balsalobre P, Re A et al (2009) Comparable survival between HIV+ and HIVnon-Hodgkin and Hodgkin lymphoma patients undergoing autologous peripheral blood stem cell transplantation. European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation Lymphoma Working Party. Blood 113:6011–6014
- 94. Krishnan A, Palmer JM, Zaia JA et al (2010) HIV status does not affect the outcome of autologous stem cell transplantation (ASCT) for non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL). Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 16:1302–1308
- 95. Alvarnas JC, Le Rademacher J, Wang Y et al (2016) Autologous hematopoietic cell transplantation for HIV-related lymphoma: results of the BMT CTN 0803/AMC 071 trial. Blood 128:1050–1058
- 96. Simonelli C, Zanussi S, Pratesi C et al (2010) Immune recovery after autologous stem cell transplantation is not different for HIV-infected versus HIV-uninfected patients with relapsed or refractory lymphoma. Clin Infect Dis 50:1672–1679
- 97. Hübel K, Re A, Boumendil A et al (2019) Autologous stem cell transplantation for HIV-associated lymphoma in the antiretroviral and rituximab era: a retrospective analysis by the EBMT lymphoma working party. Bone Marrow Transplant 54(10):1625–1631. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41409-019-0480-x
- Ghandi M, Petrich A (2014) Brentuximab vedotin in patients with relapsed HIV-related lymphoma. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw 12:16–19
- 99. Wang CC, Thanh C, Gibson EA et al (2018) Transient loss of detectable HIV-1 RNA following brentuximab vedotin anti-CD30 therapy for Hodgkin lymphoma. Blood Adv 2:3479–3482
- 100. Armand P, Engert A, Younes A et al (2018) Nivolumab for relapsed/refractory classic Hodgkin lymphoma after failure of autologous hematopoietic cell transplantation: extended follow-up of the multicohort single-arm phase II CheckMate 205 trial. J Clin Oncol 36:1428–1439
- 101. Armand P, Chen YB, Redd RA et al (2019) PD-1 blockade with pembrolizumab for classical Hodgkin lymphoma after autologous stem cell transplantation. Blood 134(1):22–29. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood.2019000215
- 102. Sandoval-Sus JD, Mogollon-Duffo F, Patel A et al (2017) Nivolumab as salvage treatment in a patient with HIV-related relapsed/refractory Hodgkin lymphoma and liver failure with encephalopathy. J Immunother Cancer 5:49
- 103. Serrao A, Canichella M, De Luca ML et al (2018) Nivolumab as a safe and effective treatment in an

HIV patient with refractory Hodgkin lymphoma. Ann Hematol 98(6):1505–1506. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00277-018-3541-0

- 104. Chang E, Sabichi AL, Kramer JR et al (2018) Nivolumab treatment for cancers in the HIV-infected population. J Immunother 41:379–383
- 105. Chang E, Rivero G, Patel NR et al (2018) HIVrelated refractory Hodgkin lymphoma: a case report

of complete response to nivolumab. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk 18:e143–e146

106. Cook MR, Kim C (2019) Safety and efficacy of immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy in patients with HIV infection and advanced-stage cancer: a systematic review. JAMA Oncol 5(7):1049–1054. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2018.6737